DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY
BOARD FOR CORRECTION OF MILITARY RECORDS

Application for Correction of
the Coast Guard Record of:

BCMR Docket No. 2017-211

FINAL DECISION

This proceeding was conducted according to the provisions of 10 U.S.C. § 1552 and
14 U.S.C. § 425. The Chair docketed the case after receiving the completed application on June
17,2017, and assigned it to staff attorney -to prepare the decision for the Board pursuant
to 33 C.F.R. § 52.61(c).

Thus final decision, dated April 6, 2018, 1s approved and signed by the three duly appointed
members who were designated to serve as the Board in this case.

APPLICANT’S REQUESTS

The applicant, a former Lieutenant Junior Grade (LTJG/O-2) who was discharged on June
30, because she had been passed over for promotion twice, asked the Board to correct her
record by taking the following actions:

e Remove two Officer Evaluation Reports (OERs)! datem
(the second is a Special OER (SOER) documenting her removal from her primary duties);

Remove all attachments and references to these OERs;

Remove both non-selections for promotion to lieutenant (LT);

Void her discharge to reinstate her on active duty; and

Convene a special selection board to determine if she should be promoted to LT without

the two derogatory OERs and, if she is selected for promotion, back date her promotion to

what it would be had the OERs not been in her record when she was originally considered
for promotion.

The applicant’s allegations and arguments appear below the Summary of the Record.

! On an OER form, CG-5310B. officers are rated in 18 performance categories on a scale of 1 (worst) to 7 (best). An
officer’s supervisor enters the marks and supporting comments for the first 13 categories, and the Reporting Officer
enters the marks and supporting comments for the final 5 categories. as well as the comparison scale mark.
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I SUMMARY OF I

I L
Ths}lllllEEE | from the Coast Guard Academy and was commissioned as an

ensign on [ She reported for her fii -t as the Deck Watch Officer
aboard a buoy tender on || On her first OE

ceived . 21d one 7 in the various performance categories (on a
scale of 1 (worst) to 7 (best)). She received a mark in the sixth spot (of seven) on the comparison
scallllIE ' OER. dated she received one 5, nine 6s, and eight 7s.
She again receil R the sixth spot on the comparison scale.

The applicant was promoted to LTJGT an
LTIG, dated— she received one 5, ten 6s, an he various performance

categories, and a mark in the seventh (highest) spot on the compar il IS ng that she
was tHEEGEE o1 t1ng officer had ever supervised. On her sec{ G [ T)G,
dated she received one 5, s . 7 and another mark in the seventh spot

on the I -1c. Her record contains many positive || Nl cntries related to her
service on the buoy tender, noting qualifications she had earned and awards she received and no

negative administrative entries. I

I
OZR - S
I I
N -« ssistant Combat Systems Officer
and a break-in (in training) mpmy Officer of the Deck (OOD) aboard a large cutter.

Her supervisor in this position . t Systems Office Lseveral weeks underway,
the app | I | Tactical Action Offi upon her
return, she was moved to be the assistant head of the Op upervisor

was the Op I 1icutenant commander. Her prior supervisor, the Combat Systems
Officer, was transferred [ililihe cutter [} Thc 2prplica
I - Command Security Officer, responsible for safeguardi material

ing the security program; a Training Officer, ovedjjj Dk of
fifteen Trainy break-in Boarding Officer (BO).

On the first disputed OER, dated ||} BN th<c applicant Melv&
4s, and two Ss in the VariOLWries and a mark in the second spot on the com-
parison scale denoting “a qu fficer.” The date she submitted this OER is not entered, but
her rating ¢ Positive comments include phrases such as “avoi

duty section gaps during short/busy mport,” ||| | j QJEEE transit begun earl$®
ready, no delay in evolution,” “frequently addressed the C i > s status &

inds exceptionally well,” “noted

m—_ri

navigational picture,” “Mbr sou GGG
I 1 kcd period.” “worked over weekends inport in response to four security
incidents, recommenci " -up actions were appropriate,” and gnaintal tremely

positive at{i i ! criod” (see enclosed). O

D period much longer than expected for 2nd tour
DWO requal.” “ 2! info. Needs progress

my review o N s content in Dept. Failed fo recog-

engths, capabilities, & key functions of member within the de;jijj R NRNENEG
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crew; evident [ NN process, degrad i o basc some important
decisions off [ - v/ prof d < often focused/stuck on single task, rather than
maintainin
I I
With her applica{ -t also provided GG
I  tt<d on [ 1his is the form that officers prepare for their supervisor
to document their achievements prior to the preparation of the OER. (See enclosed.)

] I
Special OFR -S .

The second disputed OER covers the p , and
1s an SOER | -pplicant’s removal from he es. The description of

duties on the OER indicates that she had the same official duties durilljil I <)t that she

was n{ G- - Boarding Officer, and she was still a brealk-1{ G <1 ay
OOD ' iccd the SOER on ; the XO signed it as her Reporting Officer

also on [ a0d the CO, the Reviewer, signed in on || NG

The applicant received three 2s, nine 3s, four 4s, and two 5s in the variou|ij R
categories on the SOER and a mark in the first spot on the comparison scale, denoting anjjjjjjlllll

isfactor | ositive comments are “tJJlllld evaluations seriously, reviewed in
I o B [ applicant “maintained a strong work ethic,
positive atill NN - N [ cnoing period,” “extremely safety
conscious during all operationmp Exercised regularly, maintained healthy diet &

showed remarkable stamina durifig loyment and 8+ ; reak-in watches per/day
ire & enthu-

The remainder ofjiFOER contii N 1 <. includinglm
I | submitted early, but poorly researched. Lost signed/origi cs prior to

ide reqd docs at brief, team unable to begin briefi| I v1sor
resolved, re ility for loss or inaction,” “grave mishandling of security

incident,” “unable to depart fm checklists,” “inability to ID critical infm, &
articulate situational awareness continue JJ ! fication in wa ased
responsibility, incl OOD & win reasonable timeline. Repeated same mistakes
on bridge,” “verbose & stilt 1 delivery of routine reports,” “inability to qualify in primary
watchstatiojj I  » D<)t by failing to delegate & schedule a dir
m'aining session until last minute,” and “not 1} : assignment afl

of increased responsibility.” [ 1

thru mA S - conduct on liberty,”

siasm to succeed” (see enclosed).

I, /.11

|
On N | o0 official, two-page aWe-
- e an was that the SOER mischaracterized her perfor-
mance during tH N r She stated that the

o der ry narrativ | R (|<:| previous OERs.” She stated
OERs correctly captured her skills, capabilities, and her po{iijj R EIGEE
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officer. She claimed that the scores in the SOER were visceral, excessive, and the result of three
factors: “(1) a command climate not conducive to developing or placing [her| in a position to
succeed; (2) a lack of sufficient counseling provided by [her] command; and (3) a biased and
prejudicial attitude reflected towards [her| by the command.” The applicant stated that the com-
mand climate did not develop her or put her in a position to succeed: “The climate was corrosive,
mntimidating, inconsistent, and micro-managing, which ultimately stunted [her| development and
effectiveness.” She stated that her command focused on negative reinforcement, often disregarded
and belittled ideas from junior officers, and often ignored various inquiries from the applicant. As
an example she stated that her command “summarily dismissed [her] concerns regarding discrep-
ancies in the Access List for the restricted spaces, including the SCIF.”?

The applicant claimed that she was not sufficiently or effectively counseled by the com-
mand of the cutter. She stated that any counseling she did receive was negative, contained no
practical advice, and was not timely. As an example, she stated that she was counseled at the end
of March regarding her | . CER and on milestones she was expected to achieve
before the end of the cutter’s patrol that May. In addition, she claimed that she was never coun-
seled on some of the purported deficiencies included in the January OER. Lastly, she claimed that
she was adversely affected by the command’s prejudicial attitude towards her personally. She
stated that her supervisor “routinely” told her that he did not have time to provide her guidance on
her qualifications. Her command had assured her in |} that she would receive routine
mentoring, but that promise “was not followed through with and was effective.” Another exam-
ple she provided of her command’s personal bias against her was that she was once “derided” for
following a checklist regarding a particular maneuver and then she was criticized for delaying
liberty for holding members accountable for their messy berthing areas. In sum, the applicant
stated that the corrosive atmosphere on the cutter stunted her learning and development and led to
mischaracterizations on her SOER. She stated that the marks were not supported by her actual
performance despite the poor command climate she endured. She stated that “the visceral and
derogatory nature of the [SJOER” showed “that the command made a conscious decision at some
point to marginalize [her], which resulted in the command dumping numerous purported deficien-
cies into the OER without properly counseling or providing [her] with an opportunity to correct
[her] purported deficiencies.”

The applicant’s supervisor, who was the cutter’s Operations Officer, endorsed the appli-
cant’s SOER addendum with comments on [jliljJlll He stated that the applicant’s perfor-
mance throughout her time on the cutter had been “well below expectations for a second tour junior
officer.” He stated that he provided the applicant with guidance and mentorship “commensurate
with her desire to hold command afloat.” He stated that the recommendations she made were often
challenged because she would make them confidently but they were based on “false and vaguely
referenced policy.” Her credibility with the command was degraded because she failed to correct
this behavior despite his telling her multiple times that it is alright to say “I don’t know” or "T’ll

2 Sensitive Compartment Information Facility.

3 The original version of the supervisor’s comments included the following: “Her workload was purposely relaxed to
account for the learning curve from buoy tender to major cutter operations, and missing six-weeks of the inport period
for Tactical Action Officer school. a pre-requisite C school that she failed to attend before arriving despite being
homeported on the same base that this training is held.” The applicant obtained confirmation from the training facility
that she took the training as soon as possible, and her supervisor therefore took this portion out of his comments.
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find out.” He SHEGEGEGEGR!icant’s performaili I ity Officer was “mar-
ginal and { GGG 2 2 (g of basic security procedures and incident
response.” | NG < disagreed with her characterization of the command climate and
he noted t! N junior officers aboard tHEEEEEE -nd went on to hold positions
of high responsibility. [ N ]|
I I

The supervisor stated that the applicant was provided with a written qualification timeline
on [ IIEEGEGEGEGEGEEE vhich providEEEEEE e amount of time to succeed. Despite
the “monumen (N ss1st the applicant, he stated, she was unable to respond to real-world
situations or to deviate from checklists. She was frequently provided with feedback in order to

prepare her for the qualification board, but she Tte&d
to memorize | R < cnces during her watches. t the applicant required

extremely detailed direction and follow-up direction on many of helll SENEEE:2id that she

had uil N : and was unwilling to accept any personal res i ccting
real-wi 1o 2es. I

| .
The Executive Officer (XO) of the cutter served as the applicant’s Reporting Officer for

the SOER and provided Repoﬂmg Officer’s Comments on her SOER addendum on || N
He concurred with her supervisor’s comments and directly addressed three factors from tHj

cant’s I b<ing the applicant’s corfj il t the command climate was not con-
- - - B (- statcd that the applicant was given numerous

opportuni I A | S 2y OOD. He added that every
other junior officer was able tmge qualifications. The watch schedule had been

adjusted ship-wide on multiple ‘ sure the applica est opporlumty to suc-
ceed. R S -1 that there was a | O stated
that the applicant received “an inordinate amount of : training”

from her st :<1f. He stated all qualified OODs devoted time to assisting her in
qualifying. After her firsjjjjiijunsuccess | < inport OOD

HEE - | (raining sessions with the applicant “in an effort to try to (Wgnent
nging situations.” He stated that there were ajjjj I <12ht

individual se included feedback. Third, regarding the applicant’s conten-
tion that the command had a biased and prejudicial attitude towards hﬂ'm the
applicant had not been “derided” regardujjj I ocedure; how Ting
problem that typified her uwd judgment vice strictly following a checklist.”
He stated that the applicant r criticized for holding members accountable for messy berth-
ing areas, [IIIEIGEGEEEEEEEEEE - 2 thc inport OOD when she delayed the eati

Meﬂy by an excessive amount of time.” Lastly, ||| | | IR tone and content
. were “indicative of the false confidence and refusal to t{j N tics for her

actions as documented” in the ’s best efforts, the applicant was

I o d judgment, situational awareness, and the ability to identify critical
information.” | P
L

] ommanding Officer (CO), who was the SOER
Reviewer, endo N <1 concurred with the

WXO s comn_at over the course of his career he
greater level of caring and effort put into teaching and mentorinijj N NG
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as he had observed with the applicant and the supervisor and XO. He stated that other junior
officers and chief petty officers also put in an exceptional level of effort and were patiently dedi-
cated to developing the applicant. Despite all of the time and effort expended on her, the applicant
“failed to demonstrate the leadership, managerial or professional skills” expected of her and con-
vinced the CO that she was simply unable to perform to the standard required of a junior officer
aboard a ship.

Applicant’s SOER Reply

On . (< applicant submitted a two-page OER reply to the SOER through
her chain of command and requested that the reply also be filed with the SOER along with the
addendum. She stated that the comments made by her chain of comment in response to her
addendum, like the SOER itself, mischaracterized her performance during the reporting period.
She stated that she stood by her initial assertions in the SOER addendum. In addition, she focused
on the “positive things [she| did during this evaluation period that were left out” of the SOER.
The applicant discussed various accomplishments she had made during the reporting period.

On . (i< applicant was not selected for promotion to LT by the active
duty LT selection board.

On I (i< applicant’s supervisor endorsed the applicant’s SOER reply and
stated that all of the information contained in her SOER reply was considered for inclusion in the
original SOER. On the same date, the XO endorsed the reply as well and concurred with the
supervisor. He stated that the performance she discussed in her reply was considered and captured
in the marks she received in the SOER. On ||} the CO endorsed the reply and
concurred with the supervisor and XO.

Personnel Records Review Board Proceedings

On I (!¢ applicant applied to the Personnel Records Review Board (PRRB),
making the same requests as she made to this Board.* In preparation for the PRRB, the Coast
Guard solicited declarations from the three officers who prepared the disputed OERs:

1. Declaration of Applicant’s Supervisor, the Operations Officer

The Operations Officer, who signed both disputed OERs as the applicant’s supervisor,
submitted a declaration to the PRRB dated ||l e stated that he was her direct
SUpervisor ﬁ‘om_;j that she had failed to demonstrate the critical thinking
and problem-solving skills needed for a career at sea; that she was “treated respectfully throughout
her tour on [the cutter] and given ample opportunity to excel as a second four junior officer, but
required an extraordinary level of supervision to complete routine tasks to satisfaction” (emphasis
in original); that her “inability to lead inverted the chain of command at the Department level” of
the Operations and Combat Systems Departments during her time aboard the cutter. He asserted
that the disputed OERs were a fair and accurate measure of the applicant’s performance and that

4 At the time she applied to the PRRB, however, she only had been non-selected for promotion once.
3 The applicant claimed that the Operations Officer was not her direct supervisor for this entire period.
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many of the byt included in her | »ished by others, met
basic standii I 211vures [ L5 to step in and correct to avoid cascading
negative ef |} R  thc applicant’s ideas and recommendations were taken seriously;
however, - cwn credibility “by rej R v ith the XO over policy that
she falsely quoted, and J ¢ the XO for he G
I e’ I |is own opinion the command climate aboard the cutter
was “nothing short of professional and welcoming.”
I |

The su/ <futed some of the specific allegations the applicant made in her
PRRB application. While the applicant claimed that the command on the cutter had distorted her

otherwise successful career, the supervisor stamated
highly while |} oV tender and that, out of co ellbeing, he had called

her previous supervisor aboard the buoy tender to determine if perhiljill IR cvent had

occuri N (<1 previous supervisor “did not describe her pelEEEEEEEEEE: same
overvilllE {1V < tone of her previo e didn’t describe her performance to [him]
as poor, It 1<ad [him] to believe her performance o 1| was exemplary,”
only that the applicant was motivated to succeed. The supervisor stated that he concurred with the
prior supervisor’s assessment of her motivation, as noted in several of his OER cjiil NN
stated that contrary to putting obstacles in the applicant’s path, as she claimed, she was | R

provide N <121 responsibilities nornj R ted of an Assistant Department Head
- D d her room to focus on qualifying as Officer
of the Dec/ NG T -

Regarding the applica_n‘rMe command clim conducive to develop-
ing her | S (o succeed, the supegy 101S wWere
made in order to help her qualify as OOD, including “multiple

times with |} 2b:lity to apply critical thinking and judgment, two of her weakest
areas.” Although the apijjjjiiit also clairii N (12 dcquate COW
SHI p:ovided her with adequate verbal counseling throughou g period,
emorandum of expectations of realistic goals, anjjjjj lCER -
He stated th follow-up highlights the requirement to walk her thru every

step to accomplish any task.” Regarding her contention that the comman: and
prejudicial attitude towards her, he stat{ I o1ty [himself, : ally
observed the climate aboardw less than diverse and accepting.”

In D (ot her break-in process took much longerﬂ
m‘jher supervisor agreed and stated that she was “ujjj| | | B t:ate the ability to

ticulate sound judgment.” As an example he stated that m || . there was a
risk of collision during which she i <k ot Rules of the Road situation.
I - opiiately and repeatedly argued” with the XO on the bridge in front
of the watch team. Shjj bt incorrectly, repeated her position %eded for
a certain pr{i G ¥ (ncorrectly. He alson gy |
I ' stated that she had failed to forward a member’s
leave request urjj N ch 10" on why the request

i < ¢ T o cnt.
I
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The sufl R | scveral areas in {EEGGGEEEEC2imcd to have demon-
strated exe |l N 20ce O cd were actually performed by other people or
were not p{ I 1v. The first example was the applicant’s claim that she success-
fully subm | the Combat Systems D{E - tcd that the Department Head
was struggling at the tir R ked-up” so senio NG
I o ther nE | the recommendations to the Awards Board without any
assistance from the applicant. The applicant had also been tasked with calculating and reporting
the NG 2 cc” for a i : h<!p from another member, and together
they miscalcul /. The supervisor and a junior officer witnessed and corrected the
mistake. Regarding the applicant’s access to the SCIF, he stated that the applicant did not auto-

matically have access to the SCIF by virtue of mtamd
that her claijjj I have automatic access “high miliarity with security
procedures.” He stated that her predecessor had access to the SCHENNEEEN d 2 TS/SCI
secur: NG ccarding the applicant’s claim that the OOD R v cic

vague| I < stated that this clau ]l cr < ‘limited experience and understanding
of the (NI oc<ss.” He stated that the XO had explJ I 12! times that board

questions “‘are often crafted to evaluate members’ ability to demonstrate sound judgment, commu-
nication, and application of training to real-world solutions, not a regurgitation” (| EGE

materials. I
I I
I < B B ting Officer

ThM‘rMiMs as the Reporting Officer, signed a

declaration for the PRRB dated . He stated that he reviewed that applicant’s PRRB

Y
packag o disputed OERs. He respon{illlilicular to certain aspects
of her & - low marks, the XO st N LL ere based

on her perf sistant Departmen‘r Head and based on t block 2 of
the relevan ory. Re policy was no
' that dl timing” of h

ot possible for a wutten draft OER to be prepar , the
it System Department and Operations Departme t [the
supervisor| e applicant’s] peiformance and progress.” Regarding her

complaint that the command falled to fo imeline for her || NG
XO stated that given the underwa mmand’s uncertainty about how the
applicant would react to the ing chain “made a conscious decision to present

her with t ay portcall.” That way, if her reaction necessitated
sending th tes, it could ed Therefcue thyil

OER was delayed “mn order to provide [the ap me to terms
with 1t and find a path toward success.”

en the supewmm 1ece1ved the SOER repl
ety that the SOER reply

—

to respond™o™ mplicant wanted a
Lieutenant promotion board, the XO asserted, she ‘could have submitted [her r
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chain before h{ N clinc.” Regardinjj . (hc XO stated that the

applicant njjj N {actual 2115 about the command climate on the cutter.
He stated i} R V<V, numerous visits and inspections will all attest to the positive

climate ab{ N . He also stated that he af N scussed the applicant’s perfor-
mance issues as a watch{ N A ssistant Dep G
e ——————

I oplicant’s (IR cccive proper counseling, the XO stated
that she receiv{jj Il d amount of performance feedback from [himself], [her supervisor],

her peer group of Junior Officers and the Chief Petty Officers onboard.” He gave the following

specific example' e

At the conc]usion of her failed inport Officer of the Deck Board on the-_ I asked her to
she fully understood not only the mfomlanon in her Perfor #n Stand-
m apply that knowle ¢ recommendation was 10 take a couple of weeks
he was ready before askin; rd. Less than 20 hours later she was knocking on

11 a Sunday morning wanting to “go over” her 1er previous day’s board.
I agreed to meet with her and my first question was for her to explain the difference between a search and an

inspection as an Inport OOD (This was a question she was unable to answer during the b
dav} She was unable to answer this basic question that is in the OOD PQS and is part of the Boar

pent hours working with [thﬂe n judgment and application of b
inal results; she would learn | r that question, but was unable to manifest
] the n OOD and Assistant Department Head.
_
Regarding the contentlomnand was prejudiced against the applicant, the XO

asserted that he could confidently state that she “was given ever ty to succeed onboard”
ation and

the cut/NNN O - (fo:t was expended m ﬂ
with her duties as Assistant Department Head. He further state at there was

malice tow M the Tailored Ship’s Training Availability gunshoot was “completely

unfounded.” He stated tllllle was mo SN - |c: with “a
SN .c XO noted that it was his belief that the Officers and Chie fficers on

heir power to help the applicant succeed. HOV_)f the
“counseling en by her as she attempts to paint a picture of a dysfunctional
and unsafe command.” He asserted that she was counseled and conectec“m of
times.” I

3. Declaration of the CO, t!e !!!lg Reviewer
Them,wosewems the OER Regiauatatione declaratlon dated-

B [ic noted that he directly supervised the XO, :
Ofﬁce1 (the applicant § SUpervis = gly Delieve|d] that the OERs
nt] acmnce during the period of her
SIQNINCNT. . .and 1hal ez giiely every opportunity to perform well as an officer and to grow
her skills agagialit 0 ed tha was “afforded superb c_m
_ +~—gusiulugeay orrreer | he had] ever served with,” the supervi
| T s i
I - ] that hmphcam s develm
apprised O

sure that he was well apprised of her progress via the XO. The CO was k
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frequency and [ 1scling sessions GG )i was well beyond

what woul (i GGG 2dequlll:cd that he was impressed with the XO and the
supervisor’ | R 2101 to the applicant given all of their other duties. The CO stated

that the ap/ I that the command had a [N dicial attitude towards her was
simply not true. While | P ystems Tailored EEG_—_——E
I vos o/ i He stated that he did not assign the blame for this
failure to the applicant. “More generally, there was simply no reason to be biased against” the
apEEEEE | stated. the) ' 1 <1 he learned that one of the new assis-
tant departmen I ing from a buoy tender, he was “quite pleased: buoy tender sailors
typically bring excellent deck watch officer and ship-handling skills and in general a pragmatic

and ‘down to earth’ approach with them.” The—ed n

a positive wojj R icant upon her arrival.

I ) licant’s claim that the command climate was ol devel-
oping I o (ficer, the CO denied Jthat every other junior officer on the cutter

developlE c cccded by any measure. He stated that || N cer was pleased with
their follow-on orders, which was a good indicator of their success aboard the cutter. Lastly, the

CO noted that the overall command climate was deemed quite positive accordingjiil NG
mous command climate survey results. I

I - R . . [©c board considered the applicant’s applica-
tion and s | D (N < cord, and applicable Coast Guard

policy. The applicant’s 1‘equestmrere largely the same as to this Board, except that
she only had one non-selection e only r

equested e be removed from her
record. RS I ! cant had included 2 ' cation

The] I thc applicant’s primary justification for requesting removal of the

two disputed OERs was|il] command | NG (-t suppoﬁW
HE 2| attitude towards her.” The PRRB found, however, that contained

assigned marks. Applicable policy did not allo i on of
performance period, so her command was not able to include comments

regarding her performance while she was assigned to the buoy tender. that
although the applicant’s submission was ||} B d thorough, thmﬁng
declarations support the conw values assigned.” The PRRB ultimately found
that the command carried ou sponsibilities in preparing the disputed OERs per Coast Guard
policy and |GG . thc OERs reflected an accurate picture m

ms pelfomlance during the reporting periods. TR <fore failed to pr
convincing evidence enough to overcome the presumption [ I cgarding the

disputed OERs. All four membe i 1 cndation to not grant relief to
I cndation was approved by the Coast Guard’s Director of Civilian

Human Resources on ||} N [
_ _ L
& ain not selected for promotion to LT. Therefore,

by statute, she W12
I
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PRRB Recons |

I I
On I (1< applicant requested reconsideration from the PRRB due to the

addition ol on. She asserted that the |} . v as the three declarations the

PRRB requested and obj N making its deci<EEG_——
I 201y o N v hen she submitted her initial application because they
were created for the PRRB after it requested the statements. In addition, she claimed that she was
pre I 2 tion by wa il < thice declarations. She therefore asked
the PRRB to r{}lll totality of her application. The applicant’s arguments to the PRRB
have been discussed in the Applicant’s Allegations section, below.

AlthdEEEEEE did not assert this as new exMon for reconsideration,

she also submitted a letter to the PRRB from her supervisor aboard Il N The letter is
dated || 21d vas created in response to the supervisor’s ||| | ] PRRB

declarjEE 11y, her previous supJJ I ded to the section in which the supervisor
claime I »oken to him by phone to ask if a signiji R cing event had hap-

pened to the applicant between tours and that her previous supervisor had not described the apph-
cant’s performance as either poor or as exemplary as her earlier OERs indicate. TEIEETNG:
supervisor aboard the buoy tender stated the following in his letter: I

[the o ccasions regarding [the applicant’s] performance and
18 o] ' g from when [the applicant] served with me.
I inferpreted the purpose of those calls as a means to idenily a cause of the decline in performance that he

observed and determine if I n that could help improve her performance moving forward.
During the conversation, we briefly discussed [the applicant’s] past howe\ er, in domg so, I did

I -y of the marks or co d.

On . (I PRRB decided that her request for reconsideration was “not
favorably considered.” JPRRB not I © cvidence t
JdIEE (o her chain of command herself before she submitt ication in

the statements were reasonably available to her | NN tting
her applicati

In her application to the Board, t|jjj I complained Thmve a
“complete and impartial re\w She claimed that the PRRB only performed an
informal review of her thor “comprehensive investigation into the facts of this case” as
there was L} N o ting documentation she submitted. She assﬁ
%R_R_B instead only focused on providing the com{i g »o1tunity to “enric

th (—

eir side” of the story.
_——
I, /i Discharge

I
The_ leaving the cutter coverve i

] e aids to navigation duties m Waterways Manage-
ment and receiv | < nparison scale. Her

. She received five 5s and thirteen

g <o
he fifth spot on the comparison scale. On her last OER dated ||} N
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she received tj . and three 7s and . (1< comparison scale.
She was o = on SR
I

HE APPLICANT'S AN
I T
I i cant SR ] suffered a grievous injustice” by the Coast Guard’s
inclusion of disputed OER and SOER i her military record. She stated that they are unjust and
pre - | both of herllEEEEEEE | vancement to LT. She provided a fifty-
one page stater{jj ¢ her time aboard the cutter. She stated that at the heart of her appli-
cation are four points: 1) her command deviated from Coast Guard policies and procedures;

2) there was a negative command climate stemmated
as a Junior Ol 01and destroyed an other 1 career. She stated that

“more than anything” she wished to be able to continue to serve in tHENE IRt 2s a result

of the |GG - ;s twice non-selected for promotion. She allege] GG d A fter
the dijj R < cvaluations accura | sscd her abilities and her potential as an

officer. NG 1<spectfully requested that this Board “{ I 21! the information
contained in [her| application” and grant her requests for relief.

I
Applicant’s Explanation of Events I

I - - B [ on the cutter, she was initially assigned to

the Comb NS M I 5« gunnery exercise failure which

resulted from a “combination 0%@:30}1}3(31 lack of adequate training, and unfamiliar-
” Whi

ity with the equipment. temporary assi actical Action Officer
School N B - cc 1nforming her thags 0 perations
Department. She asserted that when she returned fr e did not

receive a Wi on. She stated that she was required to qualify for mport Office of

the Deck (OOD) and wasjjjijduled to a0 board o
HIE- | due to a scheduling conflict. She stated that she under ort OOD

which was held by the XO, the supervisor, th{Estems
Officer, the mage Control Officer, Health Services Chief, and the Com-

mand Senior Chief. She stated that the board lasted about three hours a she
answered “most questions correctly.” Shijjjj I vy wanted [he 1 the
question [she] struggled wit[_rmation to the XO.”

On I V<o to the XO’s room and asked if he had ti]ﬁ
m:ne of the questions she had missed. She stated ||} } Il ncw answers bas
nal research she had done. She claimed that the XO “refu i I c:] answers
and told [her] to come back later n what he was looking for.” On
ervisor called her into his office and showed her a memorandum of his

-}

expectations of her. | Bl she only received a copy after she ip. The
document NG cove her a timeline to s ‘ L ]
] be was expected to complete multiple qualifications

w1‘rh “minimal c—m] 1 days later, she dis-

uestions aJi NG << ore time to prepare to answer
ists on them. I
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Onl (- 2o M 1.1 inport OOD with the XO, the supervisor, and
the Comm i < 25 told that she answered about eighty percent of the questions

correctly, (N |y was not qualified. On | the cutter pulled info its sched-
uled port of call. The ajjj I cscnted with her

|
I - <totc I 11 s<led only on “the highlights,” which was “essentially

that [she] needed to see the big picture around the open ended questions [she] was being asked in
ord NG < statcd that [ (2t she had been working very hard and
that he had sec| I <ss since January. She stated that the XO said he would personally
help her qualify as OOD by meeting with her twice a week for preparation sessions. She asserted

that she followed through on this, but he “did n tent
he would fodi I ou!d be available, or what r could use to determine

the line of questioning he could give [her].” I
I I
B stated that she signcj DUt attempted to have the scores adjusted

using . of correction as per Coast Guard guidi I ved from OPM (she
provided an email to prove this point). She stated that she was “not looking for straight 6s or 7s,

just a realistic assessment in six categories.” She had a meeting with her supervisoi
that she was halfway through presenting the information she had prepared when the XO ;o
conversiIIEE:: L came in “he commejllllLer] marks would not change.”
I N

ThEE T - <1 et with the XO to prepare for
an mport OOD board. The qumused were subjective questions that he felt were of

benefit to the applicant. The ap ned that there “w ' us to refer to, no goals,
and no [ B (hat were iden‘rified ‘ sserted, it
was impossible to document any progress she was ma provided

with any dojj I ¢ that she was being formally counseling durmg these sessions. She

stated that at the end of [Jjjjjjj she was 1| d the superv
1 2d there was not enough underway time left for her to get -"she stated

gage with the XO to attempt to quality as inpor || I told
her that “he have time to continue the sessions.” In addition, the applicant

added that the teaching methods employed by her command were unsucmwl-
edged that Section 5.A.2.d.(1)(k) of the | s. Fvaluations ual,
COMDTINST M1000.3A (W ' Manual™), states that officers assume “ultimate
responsibilities for managin n performance, notwithstanding the responsibilities assigned
to others i statcd that she took these responsibilities seri

m}l}f she did everything she could think of to atter|jj | N structive feedback
of command so that she could become qualified and meet hejjj | | R xpectations.

the applicant was informed by the XO and the supervisor that she was
being removed from i the Assistant Operations Officer and vl SOER.
She claime o read it” and when she a g | ]

B had no relevance to [her] situation.” She stated
that she was tolj N c promoted to LT or

M ever again. | NG co11and was not aware of or did
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because she “was never

not care about (R she did between

given the o o vide 2 0 for this period.”
.

TheEE i chted her many achie v ving the cutter. She discussed
at length the OERs she 1 subsequent assig G
I o2 d to I -2 tion the letters she provided from members at her sub-

sequent commands (discussed below).

I I
Disproportion B /s in Disputed OERs

The applicant stated that she received f her
disputed OE I : thc OERs are “inaccurate, 1 ; onsistent” and that they

mischaracterize her performance while she was assigned to the cuttilll NN Clc 5 A 2.c.

of the NG - states that in filling out the OER, “strict and ¢l crcnce
to spel R | the standards is esse I ing the purpose of the evaluation system.”
She stati I’ ;s 2nd 35 she received, several of the bel (ks were unsupported
by specific examples as required by the OER instructions. In addition, as explained further in the
section below, she claimed that many of the comments were inaccurate and “taken offj | SN
The applicant complained that her evaluations were “inconsistent and arbitrary.” She st i

she rec " 1a:ks due to one or tWjlllll For example, when she received her
I ;- - N | marks she did because she had yet to qualify
as OOD. tJ - B ¢ an SOER because she had not

qualified. She argued that it wm to receive a low mark in professional competence
due to not qualifying as an OO ultiple categor e e OER. The applicant

asserte S B CER ber command r sixty per-
cent of her accomplishments that she had listed in he . 1ssed, she

stated, som {1 stcd and used against her.

|
I -t argued that her below-average marks are unjust and sh

een marks
r Using Resources (in which she received a 4 in , she
stated that in that she was the Command Security Officer for a 120—person
unit and in addition to her other responsibilities she was able to have Pmelks
manage Visit Requests so that 50 Navy {3 < on the cutter : ralu-
ations (in which she 1ece1veW)., she stated that she marked a Petty Officer and
provided him with fair and a ritten comments as his supervisor. She also reviewed eleven
evaluationsji NG c vcre acted upon, before forwarding them uw

Mommand I
I

Inaccurate Comments in Disput
I
The applicant | two disputed OERs did not appropig = her con-

tributions t curate comments. She p L ]
. I

= “‘must ensure accurate, fair, and objective evalua-
tions and provid 15 re 1s a professional

mpected whilllEEEEEEEEE: s Dordinates, which she did not
eIve. rted that many of the marks came as a complete surprise to he | | R NG
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majority of the comments are “vague, non-specific, and impossible to fully respond to.” The
applicant stated that when she asked for clarification so that she could improve her performance,
her chain of command was “not very forthcoming.”

For her |l OER. the applicant made the following assertions:

e “Break-in I'P & U/W OOD period much longer than expected for 2°¢ tour DWO requal.”

o The applicant stated that this minimizes the qualification process she was required
to follow. She stated that instead of re-qualifying, she was required to start over
“as 1f [she] had no prior qualifications.” She stated that she completed both the
requalification (typically five pages) and the full qualification packages (typically
over 160 pages) before requesting a board. She stated that she faced delay in com-
pleting these packages because she needed signatures from the XO and the super-
visor, who both had busy schedules, and because she spent seven weeks attending
training off of the cufter.

e “Needs progress for BO [Boarding Officer].”

o The applicant argued that this comment has “no place in this OER.” She stated that
she reported to the cutter with the prerequisites to fill the role of a boarding team
tramnee. She had passed the weapons requirements and had attended six weeks of
law enforcement training. She claimed that the command had “prevented her from
participating in any Law Enforcement Interdiction off of the cutter until [she] qual-
ified as an underway OOD.”

o “Written work quality is marginal for 2nd tour JO & required frequent revision & redirec-
tion to guidance; examples include training board minutes memos, relief letters, a thank
you letter for military support groups, & ship-wide integrated drill cards.”

o The applicant stated that this is “vague, unclear, and potentially inaccurate.” She
stated that when she submitted drafts to the supervisor she “was almost always
required to make major edits.” However, she stated, when she submitted work to
her prior superivosr, the XO, or the CO, her work was “typically accepted.” She
claimed that the above comment makes it appear as though all of her work con-
tained errors, which was not accurate.

e “Untimely review of leave & training requests, led to discontent in the Dept.”
o The applicant stated that she was “not entirely sure what [her supervisor was]
referring to here.” She stated that she had had a conversation with him regarding a
BM3 who wanted to take leave i December [Jjjjjjjjij and he felt that the applicant
should have sent this leave request sooner. The applicant stated that the BM3
received his leave approval and he was “delighted to be granted leave.”

e “Failed to recognize individual strengths, capabilities, & key functions of members within
the department & rest of crew; evident during slow qual process, degraded credibility.”
o The applicant stated that this is “vague and nonspecific.” She had three specific
1ssues with this comment:
= She stated that she did recognize the strengths of the crew members by
reaching across departments and obtaining information for assignments and
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B i0ns.  She noted (G Lichlights this fact as
=

I
I | that her supervisor had commented earlier in this OER that she

I t2ken an unscheduled | < stated that she came into a
nd with forty-nine G
I t N i g from a department with twenty-nine personnel. She

asserted that she “did not receive direction from [her] supervisor on who

I [she| shouldEEEEE - s< he did not have time to guide [her].”
I - (<d that initially her qualification process did not progress slowly

when it 1s taken into consideration that she was away at traming for seven

weeks. e
. “N[bWsmed though failed to base some uﬁ)Ws on fact or

source.’

hat this mcludesm “on what decisions de{h‘ess

e The applicant “made good use of checklists & excelled during scripted evolutions but
recovered slowly when required to depart from established sequence.” I
o She stated that she was not sure which evolutions her supervisor was refdj

I do<s not list them.

mMn@nou}compIete for desired future

o She stated that th N : - <. She did not receive written expectations when
omba‘r Systems Department in [Jjjjjij or when she was trans-

thllS Department m || G- , ten days
of the OER period, she was shown a Ii 1on expecta-

w;i not rece f the list at that
opy bu ot receiv ft the cutter in m
w the applicant made the following assemo

e “Navigation brief for transit into. ' early, but poo: i

o The applicanWto how this brief was considered poorly
researched. itilized weather forecasts and tidal information,
" ' ' am the Husbanding Agent, and worked with the navi-
Wgationa brieWnsit mi

[ unfamiliar port.” She stated that the fact th nt that there

would have been fj it bac elop it more
——

e The applicant R cinal drill docs prior to trng team bri ' ide reqd
oc N ¢ unfil supervisor resolved, refused [
I N ..

o TS -tcC ha 1g Officer to prepare

qITT drill N )< of the drill card. Once she
de copies, the applicant would put them in an inbox outside of || NN
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I |caders know to [ \/icual drill cards. She
I s prac I ' <cd very well and was convenient for everyone.
I 0. the XO had inquired about the original drill card. When the
I ooked for the original, s :tc it. She stated that perhaps

someone [ e original by mi
N - <O ‘B ot of the rest of the training team and asked if [she] was
insinuating he had it.” She said that she was not and she asked the other members
I O < accidenta | C that they did, so she went to print another

I e meeting, she checked her room but she never found the original

version. She stated that she told the XO this and apologized and said that this would

never happen again. She state]

in. Tacci-
I - oiginal but was afraid to s se they did not want to

get in trouble after hearing the XO yell at the applicallill I

ggement & prioriti elays routing of timents.”
R oplicant] took time f ZMSUW | other options avail-
O extremely poor judgment & detachment time-critical task to
a visibly exhausted BO following arduous LE ops.”

o The applicant stated that she was not sure what “other options” werem
a ied to help whenever she couf

ore of her duties. She complained that
i “messages released with numerous
or would make edits to what [she] presented
h1m sometlmes t_es before it was finally approved.” She stated there
Wlth him — as an example, so/ R \would want acronyms

would not. Regardin i d that she

adocument after lunch and brought it to yand he asked
W his desk Before dinner
i again e said he dinner. She SW
in a card game “this one time and left 30 minutes 1 to see
isor had finished reviewing” the document. He %0 her
: he changes and gave it back to him as quickly as possible.

e “Grave mishandling of security in (| N tiatc proper inwine
facts before al IowingWart on libo, repeatedly briefed inaccurate account
to command.”

I s inaccurate. She stated that while she was off of the
cutter taking a boarding team fitness test, a || | Bl occurred. She as

I that other individuals aboard the ship could have takeji I actions, but
nothing happened | She stated that about an hour and
I (he incident she received a phone call and she was told what happened.
She th< I 2and and tried to keep them updated ; tigation
I s changed.” She explm-
I jty incident. She stated that the command felt that

U t she gave them the

ﬂormaﬁon a_
I

C OO LILLIC 11
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e The ap/ N provide timely NN ) |A\W PAC SECMGR
dir< I

I (o tcd that security training was completed following the incident

I " the previous bullet. - oledged, however, that she

could havEEEEEEo ensure that the (I
I -t she T < diplomatically to get two Chiefs who were not getting

along to take ownership over the individuals involved in the incident and work

I, < |
. “Unablm checklists, even as real world situations req’d divergence from their

mmed that this I T, ol d

referring to.” She stated that when sht i established
checklists she was told that she lacked sound | sserted
ists are created tQes t important step%nd that
does not break out. nuesrme one document that
anyone can follow through and perfor needed to guarantee
maximum effectiveness.” .

e “Full qualification in watchstations of increased responsibility, incl OOD & BOHEEEEE

I onable timeline.” I
I st S (o take an underway OOD while the cutter was
I - N - they were inport.

o “Repeated same mistakci I pitc frequent intervention by qualified DWOs.”

ﬂ Wd that there are no examples of e mistakes were.
e The applicant noted that it has been stated thatwnension of

secUIIEEEER- sc she had to be told by her supervisor not to come into the SCIF.

o She statediilillonce again iGN o tcll the entm
I « orevious Assistant Operations Officers had had access to t the cutter

orm their duties as Command Security Officer. SIEEEEEEEEEE:t the
Access List had stated that she had access to the SCIF as well

as other restricted spaces on board the ship. On the day i i ked
on the door to the SCIF - to talk to hw he
opened the dWher] that [she] should not come into the space.”
She stated th embered that the most recent Access List included her name
I cd that she was just trying to pass on a messm

him. She claimed that at no time did she ent/i U sc any type of se
incident. I

e rotectiomiﬁcant format errors.”

ated that she endorsed a Foreign Travel and Personal Force Protec-

ed it to her supervisor. |t [N

N . e document for an MK3 and submitted it t

mrated poor NG subordinates to make multiple
-critical paper edits, taking real world operational concerns out of fo i G
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o I :afts submitted (G -xpccted to be perfect

T V2 << of any document/message [she] drafted and sub-
I S| < stated that she was therefore forced to adopt this harsh practice.

, which 1s uncharacteristic of [the applicant’ s]' normally

s‘rateﬁMdoes] not remember this occurring during

e stated that she reached out to both her supervisor and the CO for
clanﬁcatmn smce they both m ' : She
that

maﬂ from her supm,

“numerous reports of [her] demean ' acive towards

wgor budoe team members. [She] once 1‘epeatemn the
g flight ops, bemhen they didn’t res as on

” Her supervisor e behmcharaﬂeﬂstic of her
haractel but that it manifested itself wh mpting to assert con-

trol under pressure and it damaged her reputation and credibility wit
applicant stated that if this happened “multiple times” she is unsur

her that she was being “Wor why she never received 4
I

 ThINNENEEE ‘' [berty unnecessarily when she was

“trying to be a responsi

S

o The applicant sta s unaware that thy issue until she read this

I B CR. She would conmme 00D
direction before liberty was granted. On: berthing

I - the members with cleaning up their areas. While this occurred,

she sta‘red-he XO era N ¢ of the membr

consideration for break-in watch assignment to m com-

atively impacting multiple other watchstations

hat she stood the same watch as other break-ins. She said that

she did not request or recej eatment. She s_ was
pulled off of a watch g for [her] supervisor.”

e “Untimely requests training sessions from supervisors within 30 mins of sched-

uledEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE < (o finish trng or prepare for watch; direct co
ii CO’s standing orders to OOD, qualitied wat( R tcd that [the appl
I

tinely relieved late.”

0 The applicant stat A of 2 alleged deficiency that she
I - of until she received her SOER. She stated that she was told to meet
with thij I <<k for OOD training sessions. Sh is around
I (o do in order to get qu ; ]
_ session early n the day only 10 have it cancelled

” to him and if she

not resche_ They usually only lasted around

een minutes. She stated that one time a training session was || | | | Q D DI
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_ so she requested | NN 2 2 later time and the

le to provide accur tus of umt trng when requested,

enter ed drill scores into the system and pulled up the dnll

reports m a ‘r were times when she could not access the
but when this occurred she would report

ce to her supervisors.
The mollowmg 1espomd the

XO i their r g —
onminent: The applic endations were om due to
Selt e ponfidently, but based vaguelt olicy. Her failure to
' [ havior despite me frequently reminding [m to say ‘Idon’t know’
or ‘I’ll find out” further degraded her credibility with the Command.”
o} The applicant stated that she would always ask questions and seek am
Laow the answer. She sta e was never too proud to g

m o 2 re experienced members. She high-
Miod CAMENERAT itten on her behalf, discussed below.

e The XO’s comment: “Tmmnt of [the applicant’s]| addendum are indicative of

the false confidence and Tetusal 10 take responsibility for,

WS as documented in the
I

o The applicant stated that she was not a peMr”er. How-

I . shc had the ‘“right and duty to appeal unjust evaluations that

mischaraclilillb [her] per I J—
—
| —

The applicant argued that her command failed to properly COMSW any
counseling sessions prior to providing he/ [l . OERs. She staled that the Personnel
and Pay Procedures manual Pve entries, Form CG-3307s (“Page 7s”), to docu-
ment positive or negative events i1 a member’s military file. In addition, Article 5.A.2.d.(1)(b)[4]
of the Offi G - <)all encourage the use of an Officer Support

vhich is “required for ensigns and lieutenants (jun il otc important aspe
ed-on officer’s performance during the reporting period. Silji R . problems,

achievements, shortcomings, or |G .

STHABT AT IGAT o

Counseling

|
The applicant NG ous claims were made against her ye‘m written
documenta | 2/ counseling other than'The s 1 qUIN

_tiM' er military record and the only time she submitted

an OSF was in ] for her at did not have the

Wmit an OSHINNEENEEEEEE . (SOER). The applicant stated
ade by the Operations Officer, who was her second direct sup{ | | ] NG
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cutter, in his declaration to the PRRB clearly demonstrates that he did not (il policy. The
comment is “[the applicant] claims to have received ‘a lack of counseling.” I provided [the appli-
cant| with adequate verbal counseling over the marking period, followed up with a written memo
of expectations to provide realistic goals.” The applicant stated that she was shown this expecta-
tion timeline/guideline on || by her second supervisor seven months into her
second tour and four months after her transfer into her supervisor’s department. She stated that
she did not receive a copy of the timeline until after she left the cutter in ||| Qi She pro-
vided an email dated | ll]. 12 which she asked her supervisor for a copy of the qualifica-
tion timeline that they had discussed “several months ago.” The same day, the applicant received
an email back from him with an attachment of a memorandum with the subject line Expectations

of Performance dated_

Given all of the alleged serious deficiencies the applicant suffered from, she argued that
there should have been ample documentation in her file prior to both her regular and the Special
OER. Had she been properly counseled along her tour aboard the cutter, she argued, she would
not have been surprised by the negative marks in the multiple categories in her SOER.

Failure to Follow Policy

The applicant claimed that her command failed to follow several additional policies during
her time on the cutter. The first is that her command failed to follow the proper policy when there
was a change in supervisors. The applicant noted that Article 5.A.2.d.(1)(b)[9] of the Officer
Manual states that an outgoing supervisor must provide the “incoming supervisor a draft of the
supervisor portion of the OER when the supervisor changes during a reporting period. The draft
may be handwritten and shall include marks and comments. .. for the period of observation. It shall
be prepared and signed by the departing supervisor prior to departure.” The applicant stated that
to the best of her knowledge this never happened when she was transferred from the Combat Sys-
tems Department to the Operations Department. She asserted that this transfer could have been an
opportunity for her to “receive a form of mid marks (highlighting [her] strengths and weaknesses)
and a written job description with [her] new duties and expectations.”

The applicant argued that her command failed to follow proper timelines for her January
OER. According to Article 5.A.2.d. of the Officer Manual, the rating chain is responsible for
“timeliness of reporting.” She stated that the OER instructions state that:

10 days after the period: the Supervisor sections of the OER are due to the Reporting Officer. 30 days after
the period: the Supervisor and repges | aneare due to the Reviewer. After the reviewer signs
the OER, Reported-on Officer re in Section 1.b. 45 days after the period: OER due

to CGPC for review and enfry into the official record.®

She stated that her supervisor, reporting officer (the XO), and reviewer (the CO) all signed
her OER on | herefore, they failed to follow Coast Guard policy, as the OER 1is
dated . Sic asserted that the supervisor and Reporting Officer sections should
have gone to the Reviewer by [l 2t the latest. And she should have “been afforded
the opportunity to review and sign the OER shortly afterwards.” She stated that she was not shown

6 See also Officer Manual, Articles 5.A.2.d.(2)(b)[8]. 5.A.2.d.(3)(b)[5]. and 5.A.2.d.(4)(b)(6).
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her OER until , which was three | jj EIIE - (0 have been sent to

CGPC. SHIEEEEEEE comnn 1 uincly trying to help [her]| develop, improve,
and succee |} - | to notify [her] of any deficiencies [she] had as soon as possible
and afford | 21lotted time in the mark R k< significant improvements.”
She asserted that by del| - tunity to revieviiiillEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
I o d ha R o improving her performance.

I (hat vas o (o the applicant was Article 5.A.7.e.(4) of
the Officer Majllltates that the “OER reply should be processed by the rating chain to

arrive at Commander (CG PSC-OPM-3)...not later than 30 days after the date the Reply was sub-

mifted to the supervisor.” The applicant state sub-
mission of th | R rcply. She claimed that alth 1sor received her email
with the SOER reply, he did not forward it through the chain of com: il It she sent

two fl - 2n update on the status. She received “resistariii I cmail.
At thi R < d that she asked OPMEEEE cc because her “supervisors were resistant

to endo R r<ply in a timely manner (it was over|j I the date it had been

submitted to [her]| supervisor).” She stated that her command tried to convince OPM that she was
not allowed to submit both an OER addendum and an OER reply. “When that did |Gk
command tried to convince OPM that the applicant had been “delinquent time wise.” SHEEIN
that ne1 | R <s Worked for her comnjj PP M ended up giving them an exten-
I o - < < that this delay “unnecessarily affected what
[she] was IIIEENEGEEE (- D for the LT Selection Board.” She
stated that due to the delay, shmJically redraft” her the memorandum because “the

positive things [she] accomplis e cutter] and put ‘ R Reply had yet to go
mnto [hejj N S (< OER reply been ' it would have
been in her record and been before the LT Selection : awould have
resulted in 4 . by the board.

L

The king aboard a national security cutter can be stressful, as the
primary focus tends to be law enforcement and drug interdiction. She asmﬂ)m‘
handles stress differently; “however, pdii o the cutte sely
affected the cutter’s climate Wﬁned that she attempted to survive in a “negative
leadership environment tha alized, denigrated, and stunted [her] learning and develop-
ment.” Shdjii I th< cutter had her constantly on guard. She cla
mlima‘m issues stemmed from “staffing mismanajjjj e vwere “critical st

% in both departments” in which she was assigned, which she || NN 2s difficult

for herself and other crew memb<j S

I

The applicant || CO “did not take a vested mtel‘esmow any
attempts to | GG (© (he cutter. She stated i |
R 2 as he present during the sessions she had with the
XO: he wasn’t o R 21 O ss towards her qual-

mmr comp NG | any counseling or guidance on
: tated that after she received her SOER, she walked past the Clfj  ENEINE0QdGEE

I
TN o c and Mismanagement
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He greeted her | < \vas doing and s /- .« 2ftcr having received
her SOER. I hc nodE o’ and walked hurriedly away. She stated that
for these 4} s in his response to her Reported-On Officer’s comments to her
SOER, parlllllEEE: h2d “never observed a g ing and effort put into teaching
and mentoring a junior il 2ccurate and insjii
I ]

The applicant claimed that the bridge on the cutter was a “toxic environment that was not
corlllEEE .’ She statc{ It impatient on the bridge by nervously
pacing back and I Mooring evolutions. She stated that the CO would constantly criticize
several members of the command and would frequently interrupt calls when OODs would attempt

to provide him with updates. She claimed th_l the

things occur G
I

I O that the XO frequently intimidated her and oth<{ji | N s. She
stated N typically try to find sl cbems herself before calling the XO. She

asserte N ot and impatient style of communicaticij Il cu!t for [her] to con-
verse with him.” She stated that her supervisor’s stateroom was directly across from the XO’s

stateroom, so the XO would frequently interrupt her conversations with her superviJ N
that this occurred so often that she felt like her direct supervisor had become the XO andiiiillllll
supervi{lEEEER the XO “dominated [he] R rcview sessions; [her] direct super-
I -’ B - often “humiliated [her] during Training Board
Meetings." - N | - o' ts because they were printed in
black instead of color, despite tmnters were broken and the ship was running out of

colored ink. She stated that she he XO to reserve a tralnmg during a port
call, ang N W 0om he had in mind it himself.
She stated that she did end up reserving a room (she e Board)

but she “felj I v hcn [she] would have to ask him questions.” The applicant made

other allegations general ||illing that th<i i patient, sarc—
I

upervisor, the applicant stated that he “offered v{jj | | ot in
trying to hel n though he knew that there were struggles.” She stated that
he would often use delay tactics with her to avoid seeing her. She complamade

arrangements for them to meet on a regu! | her current or gto
her qualifications or her issw more generally. She noted that in his response
to her Reported-On Officer s he stated that he provided the applicant with guidance, “yet,
[she] distin . Occasions that he was sorry he could not devc:m

m‘:plng [her] with [her] Inport qualifications.” S| S EEEE" supervisor was
entor. In addition, she claimed that he never advocated on | e XO or the

CO “when issues came up.” He di she “was being verbally attacked
I cctings.” She reiterated that she never received written documentation

with specific weakne I cies with specific actions needed tms. The

applicant c G (e n'ts about her (discu i
|
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As a re|IIER ¢ tions, the appli I 1< conclusion that she
could not tij EEEE comn - (ive efforts and treatment of her gave the “crew
the impres < conpetent, un-trainable, and ineffective as a junior officer.”

L I
Mistreatment as a Juni{ R T
I I

The applicant claimed that she was mistreated by the command aboard the cutter as a junior
of IR -t when she A | bcnevolently,” but following the failure
of the Tailored R ng Assessment (TSTA), she began to be treated unjustly by her
supervisor, the XO, and the CO. She stated that this mistreatment escalated as time went on. The

first example she gave was that she “encomlterTmer.
She claimed | |i{ications, which she earne uoy tender, were disre-

garded and she was required to complete “a multitude of tasks as ifiilih N pericnce on

a cutt N 1 2icht out of the Coast Guard Academy.” HEIIEIGEGE : also
“expe{ I s 2nd knowledge we |l pay grade.” Nevertheless, she stated, she

was ser| I plcting her qualifications and becomirt[jj I nderway OOD. She
asked the Board to consider the letters she provided as evidence that she took time to study for the

boards and that she was well prepared to become OOD. She stated that she was pro|j NN
and in a timely manner.” She had recertified for Basic and Advanced Damage Control in |jjjjjil}
and pasilE: [ cader Board i early . She stated that she took an import

I - - oo difficulty” but her qualification board was
delayed w G T I

t of the answers in the

The applicant stated thaw that she had ansvgeg
qualific s I = complained that \Mpﬂmarﬂy
hypothetical questions that were asked by the XO.” the ques-
tions she w/ll R s v <1s she gave. She claimed that she “appropriately answered many

of the XO’s subjective ajjjjjiipothetical | GGG 1| OOD sessim
S (< d to proceed with other qualifications, such as Boarding Helicop-

qualified as an mport OOD. She stated that | R vas
extremely in ly inport for about two months and underway for about six
months s
I

The applicant fuﬁherw ed she received prejudicial treatment in compar-
ison to other junior officers he cutter. She stated that she was inappropriately compared
to other of NG citci]| were identical to theirs.” In response w
mthat she did not perform at the level of a secondii I 2ssecrted that her

airly compared her against her predecessor, who was a secolj ]} ] on the same
cutter. The applicant explained first and second tour aboard the
s of how their tours had differed. Of note, the applicant pointed out that

she was i one depart{jjj L1 cc months before being transferred, mt depart-
ment for o aturely removed.” She L

] e their expectations of a second tour officer was
“reason enough || © eeded not to mentor
ek

Ghasesssss $z N —
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The ap/ I << t<d that other j G- < to attain their qual-
ifications R 2tc sup - 1cnt, and mentorship from their supervisors.”
She stated | NN s v anted them to succeed, and they all went on to have follow-on
assignmen I She asserted that her col I by way of lack of mentorship
and guidance. She did [ IEEEEEEEEEeningful counse G
I L

Ap /R - s I

With her application, the application included numerous enclosures, many of which are

incorporated above in the Summary of the Rec— ppli-

cant are sum |G

I (d a letter from her Member of Congress, who s/ p)icant
I~ ccting with him afj K hausted all of her administrative remedies

I i of command and after her PRRB ap M cnicd. He stated that

as a former Service Member himself, he understands “‘the importance of mentoring junior
officers who, with meaningful training and support, are one of our i IIIGE
resources.” During his meeting with the applicant, he found several things troubli |l
I s 1o cvidence of dof M counseling by the command prior to
I - o (N o Guard policy allows for both positive and
ne NG - - B | that members in the applicant’s

chain of command app“led to have ever submitted an official counseling
document into her record and imstead waited to employ Muation.

— —_— -
S ..

The Congressman stated that the applica
hol I ;. Lc: previous unit, and stated that sometimes “a transfer to another

unit or ship may [lllle an objec NG ) -1 individum
I obtain a qualification; however, this opportunity was d to [the
g the disputed OERs, he acknowledged that switc| N N billet
canr a member’s evaluations. However, the applicant’s excellent
OERs before and after the disputed OERs “directly contrast with tmd on
the cutter. He stated that this w/l N cunced divergence, bul categories at
which she previousl somehow, well below average.” Due to these
1ssues, he respectfully requested that the BCMR consider these discrepancies and afford

the [ -+ hich she strongly feels she did not receive ﬂ

HQRB- I
I

e LT B, who served as the ||} | I o thc cutter while the applicant

I | (1.2t he observed her interactions with her colleagues, worked on several

projects with B some bridge watches with her. He role she

per was “extremely challenging and arduouli

' @i |y step into a higher position of leadership, direct-

ing a ful NG cludin tour junior officers

mltiple divis1 (N - 2 tions, the applicant arrived at
a dirticult time for any officer because she arrived during the Tailof G
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Assessment and within one month she was required to organize gun fire briefs and drills
for evaluation. He added that her direct supervisor at the time, the Combat Systems Officer,
was also newly reported and he rotated off of the cutter shortly after due to personal reasons
causing more “pressure and confusion [on] an already challenging assignment.”

LT B stated that the most interaction he had with the applicant was in formulating
watch schedules. He explained the challenges and the many missions the cutter was
simultaneously involved in and how the applicant was able to spearhead the schedule
formation and respectfully resolve disagreements. LT B directly interacted with the appli-
cant as break-in OOD as well. He stated that because the applicant had qualified as an
OOD on the buoy tender, the “expectations for [her] were well above the expectations for
other junior officers.” LT B stated that the applicant was more than willing, however, to
take positions of leadership and assist in any way that she could. Regarding the applicant’s
interactions with her subordinates, LT B stated that from what he observed the applicant
always appeared “respectful and receptive to their opinions.” He added that the applicant
was an extremely hard worker, she had a commendable work ethic, she worked long hours
even into her liberty, she kept an upbeat attitude, and she could always be counted on to
have a smile or an “energetic greeting regardless of the situation or amount of work at
hand.”

e OSCS C, who worked with the applicant aboard the cutter from

. stated that during this period, he knew her to be a “hard worker who was always
willing to learn from the ship’s Chiefs and crew regarding any and all shipboard duties and
responsibilities.” He stated that she was “consistently proactive and assertive in learning
all she could regarding inport OOD duties during her break-in duties days with [OSCS C,
and they] spent several hours working to complete her PQS and prepare for her qualifica-
tion board.” He asserted that the applicant had been able to answer almost all of the mock
OOD questions they had worked on during preparation sessions, and they had reviewed
the few that she was unable to answer. OSCS C stated that he viewed the applicant’s
relationship with the Chief’s Mess to be “mutually cordial.” He stated that he and his
subordinates worked willingly with her whenever she needed their assistance or input on
an assignment.

Regarding the fact that the applicant had been criticized for unnecessarily delaying
liberty for the crew after mooring for a port visit, OSCS C stated that in his experience
“liberty was delayed at the start of every port visit for a variety of reasons: trash removal,
loading of stores, inspections of berthing areas, passageways and common spaces, transfers
of detainees and evidence, and quarters were just some of those reasons” (emphasis in
original). He stated that if there were any issues as to the status of granting liberty, those
1ssues should have been discussed immediately and not dealt with in an evaluation months
later. He stated that in his time working with the applicant, he found her to be a high-
energy individual with a good work ethic. He could think of “no reason why she is deserv-
ing of the extremely poor evaluation marks she has apparently received. She has been an
asset to the Coast Guard in her career and is more than capable of succeeding in her posi-
tion.”
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e The chaplain for the Area Patrol Forces, who met the applicant in--,? stated that
he believed that the applicant had the “potential and drive to be an outstanding Coast Guard
officer. Evaluations from her first assignment attest to this.” He recommended that the
Board take administrative action such that the applicant can continue her career in the Coast
Guard. He stated tj | Sl :ibcd her to him as a “diligent, intelligent, young
officer who was about to receive a career-ending OER. [The XO] explained that the
adverse marks on the OER revolved around her not attaining quali i N c<: of the
Deck. Wherlllll: further explained that there had never been any concerns
regarding her integrity or character.” The chaplain stated that he could not help but wonder
about the “incongruity between her apparent personal qualities and the performance
shortcomings | I~ He agreed with the XO that it might be beneficial if he
was available after the SOER was delivered to the applicant. After the applicant received
the SOER, she did request to see the chaplamn. “Throughout an extensive pastoral
conversation she described work, family, past academic achievement, and her most recent
assignment.” The chaplain stated that the applicant was aware of her talents but humble
regarding her shortcomings and she had a reasonable account of her reality.

The chaplain stated that he “interrogated” the applicant several times to determine
if there had been some “unnamed source of stress at home, at work, or within her circle of
family and friends that could account for the learning challenge she faced while working
towards OOD.” However, he could not find any such source. He stated that he hoped this
Board would “read critically the derogatory OER and associated responses, with attention
to the picture it paints of the environment throughout the ship.” He stated that he did not
believe that the SOER exemplified the professional standard expected within them, “espe-
cially considering the consequences of a derogatory report.” He stated that it contains
grave hyperbole and derogatory marks without clearly explaining the marks and blames
her for issues such as ship-wide stress and fatigue. The chaplain stated that he has confi-
dence in the command’s good intentions and in the applicant’s capabilities. Based on his
own observations, those who would have been most able to coach her “were already
burdened by an under-staffed Operations Department.” He stated that when her leaders
did have time to teach her, they employed the same teaching techniques over and over
again which did not achieve the desired learning outcome. However, he stated, throughout
the process the applicant “demonstrated commendable maturity and resilience.” He stated
that he believed the applicant has the qualities to become an excellent officer and recom-
mended that the Board grant the appropriate relief.

e CWO M, who served in the ||| | I 2voard the cutter while the applicant was
aboard, stated that in his sixteen-year Coast Guard career, he had never encountered anyone
with as much drive to succeed as the applicant. He described her as highly motivated and
inquisitive and stated that she routinely asked detailed questions and took notes during

traini sessions. Despite the many positive traits CWO M observed in the
ed that she faced ““a series of challenges” during her time aboard the cutter
which “made 1t difﬁcul#y succeed in her duties.” He stated that she faced a

constant change of personnel, a change of supervisors, a Tailored Ship’s Training Availa-
bility evolution, and a “nearly impossible” operational tempo that required qualifications

7 He did not state in his letter for how long he worked with the applicant.
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“that arjj}} I <1 some of the mdi N ::d.° After six months

abolllEEEEEEEEE o (I Operations Department where she “faced lead-

ersH R ¢ 2 vacant Division Chief Petty Officer billet and the retirement

of I o1 Chief Petty Office/l I < bers of the senior enlisted

leadership core |y our daily activi (i
I o <ucce

I |\ spoke higHiEE (s and her watch abilities. He acknowl-
edged tI I ot do well in a qualification board setting and struggled to use critical

thinking skills outside the designed checklist or expected scenario.” He stated that the

applicant always seemed to understanm to a
concl I v ith scenarios “out of the noffir- ved that in a real-world

situation, the applicant would have been able to “make a dec il :nd would

I ith.” He also believed that her struggles aboalEEEEEEEE-1c due
B pcctations of a sed i nior Officer coupled with the extreme
S . personal demands of a National Secudiij NG

e CDR W, who was the applicant’s OER Reviewer at her subsequent, finali .
stated that he had observed the applicant for seven months and that she is “a conscjii [l
I o(ficer who is motivated Il ° He stated that she has a personable

I - B - B :oior officer; and that he was happy to have
helllEE B

e LT B, who had worked Wl!! !He appllcant for four monigs inal duty station at the
I - ' < ssed her job dutieg 1ghly; sbutions to
her team. He stated that she was an exceptional pertormer wit 1tude, strong

worllEE ;s to learn. She was a welcome addition to his team and had
enhanced their urliilillverall suc NG
e

_ rovided a letter from CDR D, who was her CO _ender
from . He stated that he did not understand how, “without an abject

failure in leadership, such a dutiful, conscientious and loyal YOUHH the
high degree [the applicant] did in [N ;. .. only to achieve such dishearten-

ing failure in her secP when the applicant served under his command
she tlourished and performed exceptionally well. “The character of

on the buoy tender,
per N < | - :luation does not align with the caliber of pga
qufﬁcer” CDR D came to know. He noted th- .. applicant’s dis

Rs are “seriously grave in nature.” He stated that he was “le [the SOER]

was assembled requisite t{ GGG :imary duties rather than serve

rocosm of her performance. .. ; unjust in principle and a product of failure

to recognize a1y character of person we need in toMal‘d.”
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I = \VS OF THE (I
] ]

On I - /udge Advocate for the Coast Guard submitted an advisory opin-
ion in whi (e findings and analysis B on the case submitted by the
Coast Guard Personne! J I (PSC), who reco NG
I I

PSC noted that the applicant submitted her application in a timely manner and it should
the I < by the BN SC also noted that the applicant filed a
Reported-on O authorized by policy and submitted an application to the PRRB
before seeking correction of her record with this Board, thereby exhausting her administrative

remedies. I
I

PSC argued that the applicant’s OER, SOER, and the declar il S D thc PRRB

all “urii - 2 pplicant’s allegations and provide examples of || < for-
manc i stcps the command todlE::.° PSC asserted that there is no evidence

to supp .| of cither of the disputed OERs from t/ | I ccord and noted that
she made the same arguments in her application to the PRRB where her claim was denied. PSC

argued that she failed “to substantiate the claim that the two OERS...are prejudidiii N

Therefore, PSC recommended that the Board deny relief. [ ]
I I

I \ T N VIE WS OF THE COAST GUARD

I DN

On November 21, 2017, mhe applicant a copy of the views of the Coast Guard
n

and invited her to respond withinthirty days. The applicant, thro I, replied on December
17, 201__greed with the Coast 2 r%

The I -t PSC’s memorandum was “nothing more than a rubber stamp of

[the applicant’s] previoulllllimand’s eI . -nd prejudi
HE o the cutter. She argued that the two OERs should be re ey reflect

Te in the Coast Guard, including her time 4 ard
Academy, a weighed significantly less than her record prior to and after
her assignment” on the cutter. She claimed that the OERs were an anon-mpre-
sentative of her career. She asked the Bol MR carccr as a whole and - Tully consider
the prejudicial and unfair trePed at the hands of her ... command.”

wit I o cd a letter personally addressing the Board.
Mt the entire process of trying to have the disputil Ml cd from her recor

hing more than a rubber stamp of the command’s biased and I N E:ition, which
improperly absolves the comman GGG in this case.” She stated that she
I

at the Coast Guard seriously considered Coast Guard policies related to

counseling and manadi D ilitics, the letters she provided Writte i bers on
her behalf, NN | cation. ]

I —
e o1 command made

The app I o
m reformatte NN i |ight those inaccuracies. She
stated tha

she Telt it was necessary to make sure this Board was able to see this IENNEEEEEN
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questioned wh il <d her revised pi < tion any of her new
informatio o cern I an raised.
I

Thi noted that after she sub iR 2pplication she received one
last OER (discussed in ' the Record). SN
I o her I © have an excellent chance of being promoted. She stated
that other than her time on the cutter, she had an “exemplary record” and had eight “stellar” OERs
fro N e visors. S o 'cVview all of the evidence she provided
and to put her b tion she would have been in had she not been subjected to the hostile
work environment on the cutter.

B /PPl ICABLE REGULAF

I
I of the Officer Accessions, Evaluations, and | 2nual,
(OfficIEEEEOVDTINST M1000.7 gt CO’s “must ensure accurate, fair, and
objectiVIEEEE 2 ¢ provided to all officers under their ¢ NN

Article 5.A.2.d.(1)(b)[9] states that an outgoing supervisor must provide || R
supervisor a draft of the supervisor portion of the OER when the supervisor changes (il
reporting -t may be handwritten {Nclude marks and comments (bullet
I - B ction. It shall be prepared and signed by the
departing S S

Article 5.A.2.d.(1)(¢c) stMidual officers ar ible for managing their
perforn i S - tails determining jo ) ini icient perfor-
mance feedback, and using that information to meet or A2.d.(1)(k)

states that t | ({iccr “‘assumes ultimate responsibility for managing their own per-

formance, notwithstandirjiiiill responsib R ' in the ratingm
- cc feedback is thorough, and that OERs and associate tation are

I
Article 5.A.2.d.(1 and |e] state that an officer initiates her mand

submits it along with a listing of significil I ot lcast 21 da the
reporting period. And ensigwmred to use and submit their input on an OSF.

ArtillE  c supervisor must evaluate the performance of th
on Officer in the execution of her duties. Articli (5] states that the s

Mt provide “timely performance feedback to the Reported-on || R 2t officer’s
request during the reporting perio| period, and at such other times as

I
I opriate.” Article 5.A.2.d.(2)(b)[8] states that the supervisor must for-
ward the OER and th<ji D't Form to the Reporting Officer no | ys after

the end of I (3) (0)[1] states that the I
¥ i fficer Support Form, other information provided

by the supervis  EE' 2 (b)[2] states that the
i icer must desc N i lity and overall potential of the
- er for promotion. I
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I |

Art I (0)[3] st - orting Officer must ensure that the Supervisor
meets the r{ R inistration of the Officer Evaluation System. Reporting Officers
are expectilEER ' Visors accountable foll R rate evaluations. Reporting
Officers must return rep i on if the supervis| | NENENEGEGEGEGEEGEEEEEEEEEEEEE
I . subst S o ments. The Reporting Officer cannot direct marks or
comments to be changed unless a comment is prohibited by policy. Article 5.A.2.d.(3)(b)[5] states
tha I ficer must foEEE: Recviewer not later than thirty days after
the end of the |Eod. Article 5.A.2.d.(3)(b)[6] states that the Reporting Officer must
provide timely performance feedback to the Reported-on Officer at the end of each reporting

period “and at such other times as the Repoﬂin*
]

Article 5.A.2.d.(4)(b)[1] states that the Reviewer must enili-IEER rcflects a
reasor R U< of the Reported-on Officer’s performance J A ticle
5A.2 I <; that the Reviewer (I ments as necessary to further address the
performE:tial of the Reported-on Officer which | isc addressed by the
supervisor or Reporting Officer. Article 5.A.2.d.(4)(b)[3] states that the Reviewer must ensure the
supervisor and Reporting Officer executed their responsibilities adequately under th
uation System. Article 5.A.2.d.(4)(b)(6) states that the Reviewer must ensure that the [ N
received ' than forty-five days ajhd of the reporting period. Article
I - ' ' B c<ssed by the rating chain™ to arrive at PSC not
later than I ' - D (he supervisor.

The Officer Evaluation Mres Manual, PSC 11.1A, Article 2.E.4.b.
states tH S I i<\ the Reported-on ’ uring the
reporting period. For each of the eighteen performanc | t read the

standards a ' ported-on Officer’s performance to the performance described in the
standards. The supervisojjjji§t take carcii N ({icc: s perfo

. -
Artic supervisor must include comments that cite specific aspects
of the Reported-on Officer’s performance and behavior for each mark thmark

of 4. The supervisor must draw on his ob {4 2tions from se , and
other information accumulamng period. Article 2.E.4.e. states that the com-
ments must amplify and be nt with the numerical marks. The comments should amplify
specific str{ii I O s performance and must be “sufficiently specifi

1 succinct picture of the member’s performance ajjj I ch compares reaso
icture defined by the standards marked on the performance o ¢ cVvaluation

area.” I
|

Acrticle 2.F.2.0] I Reporting Officer will review the Re - er’s per-
formance ol 0 \ill mark the applic JdillE
I - orting Officer must include comments that cite
specific aspects | EEEC-©o eviates from a mark
h _
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Article 6.B.4.b. states that the Reported-on Officer is permitted to create an addendum to
a derogatory OER to “explain the failure or provide their view of the performance in question.”
Article 6.B.4.c. states that once the addendum is completed, the Reported-on Officer forwards the
OER and addendum to her supervisor. The supervisor and Reporting Officer must have the
opportunity to comment on the addendum but they must endorse the addendum by signature “at a
minimum.” They will “then forward the OER and attachments to the Reviewer.” Article 6.B.4.d.
states that an addendum must be provided by the Reported-on Officer within 14 days unless an
extension was requested and received from PSC. According to Article 6.B.4.f., if no substantive
changes are required then the addendum process is complete and the Reviewer signs and dates the
OER. The Reported-on Officer must review and sign the OER after the Reviewer has signed
before the OER is submitted to PSC according to Article 6.B.4.g.

Article 17.A.3. states that an officer’s OER reply must be submitted to PSC via the original
rating chain. Article 17.A 4. states that replies must be submitted to the supervisor “within 21 days
from receipt of the validated OER.” Article 17.A.5. states that the OER reply is to be processed
by the rating chain and should arrive at PSC no later than 30 days after the reply was received by
the supervisor. Article 17.A.7. states that the Reported-on Officer must inform PSC if a validated
OER reply has not been received within 60 days from the date the reply was received by the
SUPETVisor.

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

The Board makes the following findings and conclusions on the basis of the applicant’s
military record and submissions, the Coast Guard’s submission and applicable law:

1. The Board has jurisdiction concerning this matter pursuant to 10 U.S.C. § 1552.
The application was timely.

2 The applicant requested an oral hearing before the Board. The Chair, acting pursu-
ant to 33 C.F.R. § 52.51, denied the request and recommended disposition of the case without a
hearing. The Board concurs in that recommendation ®

3. The applicant alleged that her ||| | B OER and I SOER are
both erroneous and unjust and should therefore be removed from her record. When considering
allegations of error and injustice, the Board begins its analysis by presuming that the disputed OER
in an applicant’s military record is correct and fair, and the applicant bears the burden of proving
by a preponderance of the evidence that the OER is erroneous or unjust.” Absent specific evidence
to the contrary, the Board presumes that the members of an applicant’s rating chain have acted
“correctly, lawfully, and in good faith” in preparing their evaluations.!® To be entitled to relief,
the applicant cannot “merely allege or prove that an [OER] seems inaccurate, incomplete or sub-

8 Armstrong v. United States, 205 Ct. Cl. 754, 764 (1974) (stating that a hearing is not required because BCMR
proceedings are non-adversarial and 10 U.S.C. § 1552 does not require them).

933 C.FR. § 52.24(b).

10 drens v. United States, 969 F.2d 1034, 1037 (Fed. Cir. 1992); Sanders v. United States, 594 F.2d 804, 813 (Ct. CL
1979).
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jective in some sense,” but must prove that the disputed OER was adversely affected by a “mis-
statement of significant hard fact.” factors “which had no business being in the rating process,” or
a prejudicial violation of a statute or regulation.!!

4. Counseling. The applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that
the disputed OERs are erroneous or unjust because of any lack of feedback or counseling from her
chain of command. She alleged that her command failed to properly counsel her and to document
counseling sessions before providing her with the disputed OERs, and her record does not contain
any Page 7s documenting counseling sessions, but documentation of mid-period counseling of an
officer 1s not required and would in fact be detrimental to that officer’s record. The statements
and declarations of the supervisor, the XO, and the CO show that the supervisor and the XO
provided ample feedback and individual counseling to the applicant during her time aboard the
cutter. And the applicant’s own statements show that she received frequent performance feedback
and individual counseling sessions. She also received advice and assistance from the Chief’s mess.
She complained that the CO himself did not counsel her about her performance, but she has not
shown that she was entitled to receive personal counseling from the CO. And there is no evidence
that she ever submitted a request for a command mast that was denied by the CO. The fact that
the applicant was unable to qualify as an inport and underway OOD on the cutter, which is a
fundamental part of a junior officer’s job so that they can stand watches unsupervised, does not
prove that their efforts at counseling her were lacking. The Board notes that the many other junior
officers aboard the cutter were apparently able to qualify as inport and underway OODs in a timely
manner.

5. OER Marks. The Board finds that the applicant has not overcome the presumption
of regularity or proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the disputed OERs are unjust or
incorrect based on disproportionately low marks or that any of the individual lower marks are
erroneous or unjust. She alleged that many of the marks in the disputed OERs are disproportion-
ately low and fail to reflect her actual performance during the rating periods, but each of the low
marks on the disputed OERs is supported by a comment with an example of performance showing
how she did not meet the written standard on the OER form for a higher mark in that performance
category, as required by Article 2.E 4.d. of the OER Manual. The Board cannot conclude—based
on the applicant’s self-assessment, other OERs, and the supportive letters that she submitted—that
the OER marks assigned by her supervisor and the XO are erroneously low. The rating chain
reaffirmed the accuracy of the disputed OERs and their consideration of all aspects of her
performance in their responses to her OER addendum, OER reply, and PRRB application.
Although the marks are significantly lower than those she received before and after her tour aboard
the cutter, her marks on her other OERs do not prove that her performance of her assigned duties
aboard the cutter was other than as evaluated by her rating chain. An officer’s performance can
vary greatly over time for a variety of reasons not attributable to the chain of command, and watch-

standing aboard a ||} I s svbstantially different than on a | NN

or at a shore unit.

Y Hary v. United States. 618 F.2d 704, 708 (Ct. Cl. 1980), cited in Lindsay v. United States, 295 F.3d 1252, 1259
(Fed. Cir. 2002).
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6. OER Comments. The applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence
that the disputed OER comments contain “misstatement[s] of significant hard fact.”!?> She alleged
that the comments are vague, maccurate, and prejudicial and that not all of the performance
information that she provided in her OSF appears in the OER comments. The comment space on
an OER is quite limited, however, and OER comments are not intended to document all of a
member’s duties. Instead, the rating chain must use the comment space to enter at least one
comment with an example of performance supporting the assigned numerical marks that are better
or worse than a standard mark of 4,* and the comments in the disputed OERs meet this
requirement. The rating chain provided comments that are sufficiently detailed to support the
assigned marks. Although the applicant explained in detail why she thinks the comments are
inaccurate or unjust, she did not submit evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption of
regularity accorded to her rating chain in writing the OER comments. Both disputed OERs were
signed by her supervisor, the XO, and the CO, who each also reaffirmed the accuracy of the SOER
three times: once when the applicant submitted an SOER addendum, once when she submitted an
OER reply, and once when they provided declarations to the PRRB.

% Command Climate. The applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the
evidence that the disputed OERs are erroneous or unjust because of a negative command climate
aboard the cutter. She claimed that a negative “command climate” stemmed from mismanagement
but submitted no evidence supporting this claim. The chaplain who wrote on her behalf stated that
he repeatedly asked the applicant about particular stresses on the job or at home to try to find the
source of her failure but was unable to identify the source. Her prior CO’s conclusion that only an
“abject failure of leadership” could have led to the applicant’s removal is not based on any personal
knowledge of the applicant’s performance aboard the cutter. The
claimed that her job was “extremely challenging and arduous” and CWO M noted that the cutter
had an extremely high operational tempo, but this is not evidence of an abusive command climate
or evidence that she was unreasonably expected to qualify as an inport and underway OOD. She
has not shown that her rating chain’s expectations for her performance were unreasonable given
her duties and resources on the cutter.

8. Mistreatment. The applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence
that she was mistreated as a junior officer. She asserted that her command ruined her Coast Guard
career by, among other things, refusing to qualify her as an inport or underway OOD. She claimed
that the members her command and others who sat on the qualification boards arbitrarily refused
to qualify her. The applicant was nof faulted for not trying hard enough, as all stated that she was
highly motivated and studied hard. And the XO estimated that they met about eight times for
individual training for her OOD qualification. But both the XO and her supervisor stated that she
struggled to answer questions concerning possible “real world” scenarios that were not expressly
addressed in the written study material or a checklist. Even CWO M, who wrote a supportive letter
for her, noted that the applicant had difficulties getting to a conclusion when faced with scenarios
“out of the norm” during practice boards. CWO M also stated that he thought she likely would
have done fine on the job, even though she did not do well during boards and practice boards, but
his guess that she would have succeeded is not evidence that the boards committed error or
injustice in refusing to qualify her based on her responses. This Board notes that the XO and the

!
13 Officer Evaluation System Procedures Manual, Articles 2.E.4.e. and 2.F.2.d.
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applicant’s supervisor were members of one or more of the boards that failed to qualify her as an
mport and underway OOD, but other officers also sat on the boards, and she has not submitted
evidence from those officers claiming that the boards were unfairly conducted. The Board finds
that the applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that her command arbitrarily
refused to qualify her as an inport or underway OOD or that she was otherwise mistreated by her
chain of command.

9. Lack of Draft OER. The applicant claimed that her first supervisor aboard the cut-
ter, the Combat Systems Officer, did not provide her second supervisor, the Operations Officer,
with a draft OER. Article 5.A.2.d.(2)(b)[9] of the Officer Manual states that when an officer’s
supervisor changes during a reporting period the “departing supervisor” must “provide the incom-
g supervisor a draft of the supervisor portion of the OER.” Pursuant to this article, an incoming
supervisor will receive information about a subordinate officer’s performance from a departing
supervisor so that information about the officer’s past performance will not be lost. In this case,
however, the applicant’s new supervisor was the Operations Officer, who was not technically
“mcoming.” Like the Combat Systems Officer, the Operations Officer was aboard the cutter and
able to observe the applicant’s performance during the summer of [Jjjjjbefore she left for seven
weeks of training. And both the Combat Systems Officer and the Operations Officer reported to
the XO, who was the applicant’s Reporting Officer and who also observed her performance in the
summer of jjjj- Her rating chain claimed that the circumstances of the Combat Systems Officer’s
departure for medical reasons prevented the preparation of a draft OER when the applicant was
moved to the Operations Department in [l Under Article 5.A.2.e. of the Officer
Manual, when a supervisor’s medical condition or other circumstance leaves the supervisor
unavailable to properly carry out his OER duties, the CO may adjust the rating chain of the
supervisor’s subordinates. In light of these rules and circumstances, the Board finds that the
applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the disputed OER dated
. should be removed from her record based on the fact that her first supervisor aboard the
cutter did not prepare a draft OER for her second supervisor. She has not shown that the lack of a
draft OER from the Combat Systems Officer constitutes an error under Articles 5.A.2.d.(2)(b)[9]
and 5.A.2.e. of the Officer Manual, and she has not shown that significant information about her
performance i the summer of [jjjjjjwas lost as a result of the lack of a draft OER.

10. Lack of Timely Preparation/Counseling for OER. The applicant
claimed that her ||} . OER was not prepared in a timely manner and that she was not
timely counseled on its contents as required by the Officer Manual.'* Article 5.A.2.d.(4)(b)[6]
states that the OER Reviewer shall ensure that the OER 1is forwarded to PSC no more than 45 days
after the end of the reporting period, and the reported-on officer must be shown the OER and sign
it before it is forwarded to PSC.!> The applicant’s rating chain signed the , OER
on [ 2nd they counseled her about it the next day, , which is 48
days past [ B e Board has long found, however, that delay in the preparation of
an otherwise valid OER does not warrant removing the OER or otherwise correcting an applicant’s
record unless the applicant can show that she was prejudiced by the delay. Therefore, the question
1s whether the applicant has shown that her rating chain’s three-day delay in showing her the OER
prejudiced her, and the Board finds that she has not. The applicant admitted in her application that

14 Officer Manual Articles 5.A.2.d.(2)(b)[8]: 5.A.2.d.(3)(b)[5]: 5.A.2.d.(3)(b)[6]: and 5.A.2.d.(4)(b)(6).
13 OER Manual, Article 2.D.2.c.
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she was counseled by her supervisor about her performance and his expectations on

I 20d her meetings with the XO to help her qualify as an OOD began soon after she failed a
board on | herefore, the Board finds that the applicant received timely feedback
and counseling at the end of the reporting period for the OER, and she was not deprived of the
information she needed to improve her performance between ||| | ] 2od the date she
was shown the OER, ] The Board finds that the applicant has not shown that her
command’s three-day delay in counseling her on her | j I OER prejudiced her in any

way. The delay does not warrant removal of the OER or any other correction of her record.

11.  Input for SOER. The applicant alleged that she was unable to submit input for the

SOER. The procedures for documenting an officer’s removal from primary duties

on a derogatory SOER in the OER Manual and Officer Manual do not expressly provide for prior
input from the reported-on officer before the rating chain prepares the SOER.!® Instead, these
articles give the reported-on officer the chance to submit an addendum to provide her own view of
her performance. Article 5.C.8. of the OER Manual states that “[aJddendum comments should be
performance-oriented, either addressing performance not contained in the OER or amplifying the
reported performance.” And the rating chain may amend the SOER 1in response to the addendum,
in which case the reported-on officer is allowed to revise the addendum. The record shows that
the applicant was allowed to submit an addendum to the SOER in accordance with these
provisions, and the rating chain completed their endorsements with comments, as authorized by
Article 5.C.2. of the OER Manual, and submitted the reply to PSC on |} Therefore,
she has not shown that her rating chain improperly deprived her of the opportunity to provide input
for the SOER, and the SOER with her addendum was entered in her record well before the LT

selection board convened on || G

12. SOER Delay. The Board finds that the applicant has not proven by a preponderance
of the evidence that her record was prejudiced before the ||| | | QJJEEEE. LT sclection board
because her chain of command delayed endorsing her SOER reply. She claimed that her command
disputed her right to submit a reply and that she had to rewrite her personal memorandum to the
selection board because she had expected her SOER reply, which noted many positive things she
had done during that evaluation period, to be included in her record. The rules for derogatory
OERs in the OER Manual do not expressly address OER replies, so it was not unreasonable for
her command to discuss with PSC whether a reply was authorized in addition to an addendum.
Article 5.A.7.e. of the Officer Manual states, however, that an officer “may reply to any OER,”
even though like addenda, replies “provide an opportunity for the Reported-on Officer to express
a view of performance which may differ from that of a rating official.” Article 5.A.7.e.(3) of the
Officer Manual states that an OER reply must be submitted within 21 days of the officer’s receipt
of the validated OER from PSC. The date of validation of the SOER is not in the record, but the
applicant was allowed to submit a reply on ||| |} QJNE I A:rticle 5.A.7.e.(4) of the Officer
Manual states that the rating chain should ensure that the reply, along with the rating chain’s
endorsements to the reply, is submitted to PSC no more than 30 days after the reported-on officer
submitted it to her supervisor. Therefore, the applicant’s rating chain should have completed their
review of her SOER reply and their endorsements no later than ||| [ | | NI 2»d they
missed that deadline.

16 OER Manual, Article 5.A.; Officer Manual, Article 5.A.7.c.
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The LT selection board, however, convened on ||| | . 2nd so even if the
rating chain had reviewed and endorsed her SOER reply by ||} . thc applicant’s
SOER reply would not have been entered in her record before the selection board convened. The
Board notes in this regard that according to Articles 5.A.7.e.(5) and (6) of the Officer Manual, PSC
had to conduct a “quality review” of the SOER reply after receiving it from the rating chain and
before entering it in the applicant’s record, and an officer is supposed to query the status of an
SOER reply only when 60 days have passed. Therefore, when the applicant submitted her SOER
reply on | sh< could have no reasonable expectation that it would be entered in her
record before the LT selection board convened on ||| | . The record shows that the
applicant knew that her SOER reply would not be entered in her record before the LT selection
board convened and so added the information from her SOER reply to the personal memorandum
she submitted to that board. This Board, therefore, concludes that the applicant has not proven by
a preponderance of the evidence that her record was prejudiced before the LT selection board by
her command’s failure to review and endorse her SOER reply within 30 days.

13. The applicant made numerous allegations with respect to the actions of her rating
chain. Those allegations not specifically addressed above are considered to be unsupported by
substantial evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption of regularity and are not dispositive
of the case.!’

14. The applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the disputed
OERs were adversely affected by a “misstatement of significant hard fact,” factors “which had no
business being in the rating process,” or a prejudicial violation of a statute or regulation.!® Nor
has she shown that her record was erroneous or unjust when it was reviewed by the LT selection
boards in [ Therefore, the Board finds no grounds for removing either the OER or
SOER; for removing her non-selections for promotion; for reinstating her on active duty; or for
convening Special Selection Boards to reconsider her non-selections. Accordingly, no relief
should be granted.

(ORDER AND SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE)

1733 C.F.R. § 52.24(b); see Frizelle v. Slater, 111 F.3d 172, 177 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (noting that the Board need not
address arguments that “appear frivolous on their face and could [not] affect the Board's ultimate disposition™).

8 Hary v. United States, 618 F.2d 704, 708 (Ct. Cl. 1980), cited in Lindsay v. United States, 295 F.3d 1252, 1259
(Fed. Cir. 2002).
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ORDER

The application of former [ E—S— [ UscG. for correction of

her military record is denied.

April 6, 2018






